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Assetinsure Pty Limited
ABN 65 066 463 803
Directors' report
The Directors present their report together with the financial report of Assetinsure Pty Limited ("the Company"),
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and the auditor's report thereon.

Directors
The names of the Directors of the Company in office during the year and until the date of signing and their
dates of appointment are as follows:
Directors at date of signing:
Mrs Julie Osborne - Chair
Mr Martin McConnell
Mr Stuart O'Brien
Mr Christopher Old
Mr Steven Rankine
Mr Johnny Symmonds
Mr Peter Wedgwood
Former Directors:
Mr Henricus Sprangers
Mr Gregor Pfitzer
Alternate for Mr Johnny Symmonds:
Mr Donny Gouveia

(appointed 25 November 2014)
(appointed 27 January 2021)
(appointed 1 January 2021)
(appointed 26 March 2018)
(appointed 30 June 2020)
(appointed as alternate for Mr Donny Gouveia 1 July 2019,
resigned and appointed as Director 7 April2O2O)
(appointed 1 September 2003, resigned 1 July 2019, re-appointed
30 June 2020)
(appointed 1 September 2003, resigned 31 December 2020)
(appointed 3 August 2004, resigned 31 December 2020)
(appointed as Director 1 July 2019, resigned and appointed as
alternate for Johnny Symmonds 7 April2O20)

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Company during the course of the financial year were of an insurance underwriter,
underwriting agent and reinsurance company. There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities
of the Company during the year.

Review and results of operations
The Company result for 2020 was an aftertax profit of $2,878,000 (2019: $5,375,000).
During the year the business continued to perform strongly with total revenue up 19% on 2019. While Covid19 did impact the business, this was largely confined to Cover Genius rental car excess insurance and, to a
lesser extent, the Pl Plus landlord insurance business which the Company commenced underwriting in late
2019. Cover Genius premium was down 760/o for the year as the travel sector virtually shut down because of
the pandemic.

These revenue reductions were more than offset by 56% growth in Credit Enhancement and 14% growth in
Surety gross premium written. Credit related insurance lines generated more than 50% of the Company's total
gross premium written in2Q2Q.
Overall, lhe 42% increase in net profit after tax achieved in2019 was not able to be sustainedin2O20 and
profit declined 53%. The performance of most of the ongoing business lines during 2020 was good with Credit
Enhancement in particular producing its best ever profit contribution. However, some legacy issues in the
Builders Warranty portfolio and the discontinued property and liability portfolios (in run-off), lower investment
income and discount along with the need for some one-off employee related provisions resulted in a lower
profit in 2020.

The Company commenced writing Builders Warranty in 2017 when CBL lnsurance Limited (CBLI) was
appointed as the Company's underwriting agent. Both the Company and CBLI were part of the CBL Group at
the time and Builders Warranty had been a core product of that Group for several years. CBLI was placed
into administration in February 20'18 and then liquidation in November 2018. During 2018 underwriting of the
business was brought in-house and the CBLI underwriting agency agreement was formally terminated in early

2019.
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Review and results of operations (continued)
Since taking over underwriting the business directly, exposures have been reduced and undenivriting standards

improved substantially. However, the claims experience for the business written by CBLI while they were
underwriting agent have been substantially adverse to expectations. Consequently, the 2020 results include
$4,050,000 more claims expense (actual claims received and reserving adjustments)than expected.
The results also include a $1,810,000 increase in reserving on a claim in the Professional lndemnity portfolio
which the Company ceased underwriting in2014. This claim wasn't expected and is the result of the customer
receiving an adverse court judgement. The case is being appealed.
Direct lnsurance

Gross written premium from business written by the Company, either directly or as inwards reinsurance, in
2020 was $70,038,000 (2019: $62,31 1 ,000). The Company's direct insurance business operates as a direct
insurance underwriter and an underwriting agent. When combined with the gross premium written by the
underwriting agency, the total gross written premium generated by the Company in2020 was $119,1B4,000
(2019: $103,961 ,000).

The main driver for the increase was the growth achieved in the Credit Enhancement business. Despite
strengthening underwriting requirements in response to Covid-19, Credit Enhancement gross premium (written
as undenivriting agent) increased by $18,003,410 (56%) in 2020. This was in part due to a backlog of unsettled
transactions from the prior year settling in early 2020 but also the continued strong demand for credit
enhancement from the banks. One Credit Enhancement claim was received in 2020. This was from a policy
issued to an Australian bank covering their credit exposure to a business in the travel sector heavily impacted
by Covid-19. The bank was able to establish a replacement debt facility with their customer without loss and
so full recovery of the claim was received.

A very cautious approach was taken to Surety undenvriting during 2020 while the impact of Covid-19 on the
construction sector and industry and government responses were assessed. To address the Company and
its Surety capacity providers concerns about the market, a programme of exposure reduction and price
increase initiatives were implemented. Surety exposures materially reduced as the year progressed, however,
pricing increases assisted by the issue of a small number of larger bonds resulted in no reduction in Surety
gross premium written for the year.
Premium for policies written on the Company's paper decreased by B% in 2020 (2019: 13% increase) to
$32,832,000 (2019: $35,555,000). ln both years the fluctuation in the premium was mainly attributable to the
rental car insurance product written through the Cover Genius agency. This insurance is distributed via Cover
Genius's online platform and provides insurance at substantially lower rates for customers renting cars than
charged by the rental car companies. This premium grew by 18% in 2019 but, being travel related, the
business wrote almost no premium during the pandemic lockdowns and so ended 2O2O down 760/o. The
decrease was partially offset by growth in the Enthusiast Motor business and inclusion of the 1st full year of
premium from the Pl Plus landlord insurance agency.
The Company acts as underwriting agent for several highly rated third-party insurers. ln doing so the Company
provides undenvriting expertise for which it receives fee and commission income while also taking a share of
the insurance risk and premium by providing reinsurance.

ln 2020 the underwriting agency business generated $86,352,000 of gross written premium for the insurers it
represents (2019: $68,406,000). The Company's inwards reinsurance share of this premium only, and not the
full gross premium amount, is permitted to be reported as gross written premium revenue in the financial
statements. Reinsurance premium written on business underwritten as underwriting agent increased by 39%
(2019:8% decrease) to $37,206,000 (2019: $26,756,000). The increase in Credit Enhancement premium
noted above was the reason.
Consistent with the increase in agency generated gross written premium, agency fee and underwriting fee
income also increased by 35% in 2020 (2019: 9% decrease). The lT Services income component also

increasedbyllo/o(2019: 3%decrease)to$3,454,000(2019: $9,t04,000). lTServicesincomeisgenerated
from developing and licensing the "Graile" insurance administration system to third party users. This business
continued to expand its portfolio of clients in 2020.
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Review and results of operations (continued)
Reinsurance Run-off

The portfolio of reinsurance run-off claims acquired when the Company was purchased by Assetinsure
Holdings Pty Limited in 2003 reduced slightly in2020 to $6,499,000 at year end (2019: $7,915,000). The
reinsurance run-off generated a $277,000 underwriting loss for the year (2019: $491,000 loss) mainly due to
the reduction in the interest yield curve during the year which resulted in a $226,000 reduction in discount at
year end.
lnvestment Activities
The Company's investment activities generated $1,726,000 (2019: $2,863,000) of investment income during
the year, including interest on the Cumulus Vineyards loan included in receivables. The Company's investment
assets comprised cash, bank term deposits, units in a bond fund and loans. Term deposit interest rates
reduced dramatically during 2020 as the RBA reduced the cash rate in response to the economic impact of
Covid-19. The Company also maintained higher than normal cash and at call deposit balances during the
year due to the uncertainty caused by the pandemic. This further reduced investment returns. The Company's
bond portfolio investment generated a 4.51% return net of fees (2019: 6.97%).

Covid-l9lmpact
The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has been considered in the preparation of the financial statements.

This included assessing its impact on the economy, the market and the expected future revenues and
expenses of the business. During the pandemic the Company was able to transition to operating with the
majority of staff working remotely without major issue.

The main impact of Covid-19 on Company revenue during the year is explained above. While the Company's
products are unlikely to have any direct exposure to Covid-19, they can be impacted by the implementation of
various restrictions on mobility and gatherings and the resulting reduction in economic output and increased
unemployment. The Surety, Credit Enhancement, Cover Genius rental car excess, Pl Plus landlord's and
Builders Warranty insurance products are all exposed to this to a varying extent. The impact of the uncertainty
caused by Covid-19 has been factored into the assessment of the Company's insurance liabilities at year-end.
To date the impact of the pandemic on Company operations and results has been limited.

Dividends
During the year no dividend was declared and paid in respect of the 2019 or 2020 financial years

State of affairs
ln the opinion of the directors, other than those disclosed above, there were no significant changes in the state
of affairs of the Company during the financial year.

Events subsequent to reporting date
Subsequent to reporting date the Company declared, subject to regulatory approval, a $1,700,000 dividend.
ln the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report, other than the matters discussed

above, no other item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has occurred which is likely, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in future financial years.

Likely developments
The Company expects to be able to meet its financial obligations resulting from all insurance liabilities. The
Company will also proceed to further develop its insurance business.
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lnsurance premiums
Since the end of the previous financial year the parent entity has paid insurance premiums in respect of a
directors' and officers' liability and legal expenses insurance contract, insuring past and present directors and
officers, including executive officers of the Company and directors and executive officers and secretaries of its
controlled entities.

Directors' benefits
During or since the financial period no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive a
benefit, other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable
by the Directors, by reason of a contract entered into by the Company or a body corporate that was related to
the Company when the contract was made or when the Director received, or became entitled to receive the
benefit, with:

o
.
.

a Director; or
a firm of which a Director is a member; or
an entity in which a Director has a substantialfinancial interest.

Auditor's independence declaration
The auditor's independence declaration is set out on page 5 and forms part of the Directors' report for the
financial year ended 31 December 2020.
Rounding off

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors' Reports)
lnstrument 20161191 and in accordance with that lnstrument, amounts in the financial statements have been
rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherurrise stated.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors

,
M

Director

Dated at Sydney this 12 March2021
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

ABN 74 490 121 060
Grosvenor Place

225 George Street
Sydney, NSW2000
PO Box N250

Sydney NSWAustralia

Tel: +61 293227000
Fax: +61 293227001
www.deloitte.com.au

The Board of Directors
Assetinsure Pty Limited
Level 21, 45 Clarence Street
Sydney NSW 2000

12 March 2O2L
Dear Directors

Auditor's Independence Declaration to Assetinsure Pty Limited
In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2007,I am pleased to provide the
following declaration of independence to the Directors of Assetinsure Pty Limited.
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Assetinsure Pty Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2020,I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there
have been no contraventions ofr

(i) the auditor

independence requirements of lhe Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours sincerely

).L$. -ln*-,t-i,LJDELOITTE TOUCH E TOH MATSU

rt Alexander
r
rtered Accountants

Liability llmlted by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Leglslation.
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Umlted and the Deloltte Network.

Assetinsure Pty Limited
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Note

Revenue

5

Expenses

8

Profit before income tax
lncome tax expense

Profit for the year

10

2019

2020
$'000

$'000

92,780

78,116

88,673
4,107
1,229

70,168

7,948
2,573

2,878

5,375

2,879

5,375

Other comprehensive income for the year net of income tax

Total other comprehensive income for the year net of tax
attributable to members of Assetinsure Pty Limited

The statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes
to the financial statements set out on pages 10 to 55.
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Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Balance at 1 January 2019

lssued
capital

Retained

earnings

Total

$'000

$'000

$'ooo

41,860

9,798

51,658

Dividends paid

Total transaction with owners
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

5,375

5,375

Total comprehensive income for the year

5,375

5,375

Balance at 31 December 2019

41,860 15,173

57,033

Balance at 1 January 2020

41,860

57,033

15,173

Dividends paid
Total transaction with owners
Profit for the year

2,878

2,878

2,878

2,878

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income for the year
Balance at 31 December 2020

41,860

18,051

59,911

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set
out on pages 10 to 55.
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Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2020
Note

2020
$'000

Gurrent assets
Cash at bank
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Deferred acquisition costs
lnvestments
Deferred reinsurance expense

32

29,940

12

55,599
5,430

13
14
'15

17

Total current assets

2019
$'ooo
17,990
36,039

3,293

4,874

1,633

56,300
5,952

47,220

158,095

111,343

208

38,396
7,088
3,310
7,350
1,809
5,288
229

64,179

63,470

5,168

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

12

32,136

13

Deferred acquisition costs
lnvestments
Deferred tax assets
Deferred reinsurance expense
Plant and equipment

14
15

8,797
5,054
7,850
3,399
6,735

16
17
18

Total non-current assets

222,274

Totalassets

174,813

Gurrent liabilities
Trade and other payables

21

35,835

Outstanding claims liabilities
Unearned premium liabilities
Unearned commission liabil ities
Current tax liabilities

22
23
24
25

15,392
32,713
1,078
3,422

88,440

Total current liabilities

18,478
11,648
27,445
1,144
2,395
61,1 10

Non-cu rrent liabilities

Trade and other payables

21

4,075

Outstanding claims liabilities
Unearned premium liabilities
Unearned commission liabilities

22
23
24

31,85'l
37,013
984

73,923

Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

162,363

Net assets

2,405
25,076
28,078
1

111

56,670

117,780

59,911

57,033

41,860

41,860

18,051

15,173

59,911

57,033

Equity
lssued capital
Retained earnings

Totalequity

26

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set
out on pages 1O to 55.
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Assetinsure Pty Limited
Statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Premium related inflows
Reinsurance and retrocession premiums paid
Claims paid
Reinsurance and retrocession claim recoveries
lnterest received
Rent received
Other underwriting expenses paid
Other operating income received
Payments to suppliers
Net tax related payments
Net cash flows from operating activities

32(ii)

2020
$'000

2019
$'ooo

72,158

52,774

(17,35e)

(11,000)

(25,873)

(24,820)

10,109
863

9,921
1,631

(14,320)

312
(20,321)

20,B89
(23,685)

10,630
(19,853)

(1,792\

(40B)

20,990

(1,1341

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from investments
Purchase of plant and equipment

2,382
rc2)

(6,4e2)

Net cash flows from investing activities

2,320

(6,650)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

23,310

(7,7841

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
financial year

20,743

28,527

44,053

20,743

(1

58)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to equity holders
Net cash flows from financing activities

Gash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial

year

32(il

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on
pages 10 to 55.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
Note

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
B
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36

Contents

Summary of significant accounting policies
Accounting estimates and judgements
Actuarial assumptions and methods
lnsurance risk management
Revenue

lnsurance undenrvriting result
Net claims incurred
Expenses
Profit before income tax
lncome tax expense
Dividends
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Deferred acquisition costs
lnvestments
Deferred tax balances
Deferred reinsurance expense
Plant and equipment
lntangible assets
Goodwill
Trade and other payables
Outstanding claims liabilities
Unearned premium liabilities
Unearnedcommissionliabilities
Current tax balances
lssued capital

Auditors'remuneration
Capital management
Key management personnel disclosures
Related party disclosures
Ultimate parent entity
Notes to the statement of cash flows
Financial risk management
Commitments
Unexpired risk liability
Events subsequent to reporting date
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
1

Summary of significant accounting policies
Assetinsure Pty Limited (the "Company") is a for profit company domiciled in Australia. The address of
the Company's registered office is 45 Clarence Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia. The parent entity,
and ultimate parent entity, of the Company is Lombard Australia Holdings Pty Limited. The financial
statements are as at and for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The principal activities of the Company during the course of the financial year were of a direct insurance
undenrvriter, undenarriting agent and reinsurance company in run-off.

(a)

Statement of compliance
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards ("A,A5gs") adopted by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board ("4458") and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial statements
comply with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards ("lFRSs") and interpretations adopted by
the lnternational Accounting Standards Board ("lASB').
The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 12th March 2021

.

(i) New and revised standards not yet effective that will likely impact the Company

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts
AASB 17 lnsurance Contracts was issued during 2017, and will be applicable for all general, life

and health insurance contracts. AASB 17 establishes principles for the

recognition,
particular,
presentation
AASB 17
issued.
ln
of
insurance
contracts
measurement,
and disclosure
introduces a new primary measurement model for accounting for insurance contracts but permits
the application of a simplified measurement model (similar to the current basis on which general
insurance is brought to account under AASB '1023) where the profit measurement is reasonably
expected to approximate the result under the main measurement model.
The standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 but is available for

early adoption. The Company has established an AASB 17 implementation project which is
working toward implementation of the standard by the 1 January 2023 application date. The
assessment of the potential impact of the new standard has not yet been completed.

AASB 9 Financial lnstruments
AASB 9 Financial lnstruments includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement

of financial assets including new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment and
supplements the new general hedge accounting requirements previously published. Due to the
interaction between AASB 9 and a new standard on insurance accounting which was issued by
the IASB in May 2017, as amended in 2020, the Company has applied the temporary exemption
available to it as an insurer for its 30 December 2020 reporting and deferred the application of the
standard.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company's functional currency

The financial report is prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following assets and
liabilities are stated at their fair value - outstanding claims and investments backing insurance
liabilities. Receivables and payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.

The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors'
Reports) lnstrument 20161191 and, in accordance with that lnstrument, amounts in the financial
report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherurise stated.
Judgements made by management in the application of Australian Accounting Standards that
have significant effect on the financial report and estimates with a significant risk of material
adjustment in the next year are discussed in Notes 2 and 3.

(c)

Glassification of insurance contracts
Contracts under which the Company accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the
policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder or other beneficiary if a specified
uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholder or other beneficiary
are classified as insurance contracts. lnsurance risk is risk other than financial risk. Financial risk
is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest rate, security price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, a credit rating or credit index or
other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable that the variable is not specific to
a party to the contract.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d)

Revenuerecognition
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows

Premium revenue
Direct insurance premium comprises amounts charged to policyholders excluding taxes collected

on behalf of third parties. lnwards reinsurance premium comprises premiums ceded by insurers,
but excluding taxes collected on behalf of third parties. Premiums are brought to account from
the date of attachment of risk and are earned over the period of indemnity in accordance with the
pattern of incidence of risk.

The pattern of recognition of income over the policy, treaty or indemnity period is based on time

where this closely approximates the pattern of risks underwritten. Unearned premium

is

determined by apportioning the premiums written in the year using the daily pro rata method.

lf

Services fees

lT services revenue is generated from contracts for the licensing and development of the "Graile"
insurance administration system and provision of network support services. Revenue is
recognised upon delivery of the service to the customer.
U nderwriti

ng

ag

ency com

mi

ssion

Underwriting agency commission revenue is recognised over time by allocating the commission
due, to the periods in which the Company meets the performance obligations in each contract.

An assessment has been completed of the expected pattern of the performance of

the
underwriting agency service obligations for each line of business written by the Company as an
underwriting agent. These include business acquisition, underwriting, client facility monitoring,

claims handling, policy administration and reporting. Based on this assessment, a portion of
commission due on each policy or bond written is allocated to unearned commission and
apportioned over the policy or bond period using the daily pro-rata method.

Undenuriting fees
Underwriting fees are generally fees charged to customers for underwriting and issuing a policy
or bond. lncome is recognised upon delivery of these services.

Other fees
Revenue from the rendering of other services is recognised upon delivery of the service to the
customer.

Interest revenue
lnterest is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method
(e)

Outwards reinsurance
Premium ceded to reinsurers is recognised as an expense in accordance with the pattern of
reinsurance service received. Accordingly, a portion of outwards reinsurance premium is treated
as a prepayment at reporting date.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)

Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs incurred in obtaining general insurance contracts are deferred and recognised
as assets where they can be reliably measured and where it is probable they will give rise to
premium revenue that will be recognised in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Deferred acquisition costs are amortised systematically in accordance with the expected pattern
of the incidence of risk under the general insurance contracts to which they relate. This pattern
of amortisation corresponds to the earning pattern of the corresponding premium revenue.

(g)

Outstanding claims liability
The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate of the present value of
expected future payments against claims incurred at the reporting date under general insurance
and inwards reinsurance contracts issued by the Company, with an additional risk margin to allow
for the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate.
The expected future payments include those in relation to claims reported but not yet paid: claims

incurred but not reported ("lBNR'), claims incurred but not enough reported ("lBNER"), and
anticipated claims handling costs.

Claims handling costs include costs that can be associated directly with individual claims, such
as legal and other professional fees, and costs that can be indirectly associated with individual
claims, such as claims administration costs.

The expected future payments are discounted to present value using a risk free rate. The risk
free rate is derived from the yield curve for Australian Government Bonds at reporting date as
published by the Reserve Bank of Australia.
A risk margin is applied to the outstanding claims liability, net of reinsurance and other recoveries,
to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central estimate. This risk margin increases the
probability that the net liability is adequately provided for to a 75% probability of sufficiency.

(h)

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable on paid claims, reported claims not yet paid, IBNR,
IBNER and unexpired risk liabilities are recognised as revenue. Recoveries receivable are
assessed in a manner similar to the assessment of outstanding claims. Recoveries receivable
are measured as the present value of the expected future receipts, calculated on the same basis
as the liability for outstanding claims.

(i)

Unexpired risk liability
Provision is made for unexpired risks arising from general business where the expected value of
claims and expenses attributed to the unexpired periods of policies in force at the reporting date
exceeds the unearned premiums provision in relation to such policies after the deduction of any
deferred acquisition costs and related intangible assets. The provision for unexpired risk is
calculated separately by reference to classes of business which are managed together and have
broadly similar risks.

Any unexpired risk liability remaining after writing off any insurance related intangible assets and
deferred acquisition costs is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

0)

lnvestments
The assets backing direct insurance and general reinsurance liabilities are those assets required
to cover the technical insurance liabilities (outstanding claims and unearned premium) plus an
allowance for solvency.

The Company values financial assets and any assets backing insurance liabilities at fair value
with any resultant realised and unrealised gains and losses recognised in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.
The valuation methodology for assets valued at fair value is summarised below:
a

Cash assets and bank overdrafts are carried at face value of the amounts deposited or
drawn;

a

Shares, fixed interest securities, options and units in trusts listed on stock exchanges are
initially recognised at cost on the date the Company commits to purchase the investment.
The subsequent fair value is taken as the quoted bid price of the investment.

a

Units in unlisted unit trusts are recorded at fair value determined by the published unit

redemption price; and
a

Unlisted fixed interest securities are recorded at cost plus accrued interest less any
impairment losses.

Purchases and sales are accounted for on the date of settlement, and any realised net gains or
losses upon sale are recognised in profit or loss excluding any interest or dividend income.

(k)

lnvestment in subsidiary
The investment in subsidiary is recorded at cost

(l)

Fire brigade and other charges

A liability for fire brigade and other charges is recognised on business written to the reporting
date. Levies and charges payable are expensed on the same basis as the recognition of premium
revenue, with the portion relating to unearned premium being recorded as a prepayment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
1

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(m)

lncome tax
lncome tax on the profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax. lncome tax is recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which
case it is recognised in equity.
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted

or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
The following temporary differences are not provided for: goodwill not deductible for taxation
purposes; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable

profit; nor any differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities,
using tax rates substantively enacted at the reporting date.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(n)

Receivables
The collectability of debts is assessed as at reporting date and specific provision is made for any
impairment losses.

Trade debtors
Trade debtors are stated at fair value, being the amounts due, as they are generally settled within
120 days.

(o)

Goods and services tax
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax
(GST), except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.
ln those circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as
part of an item of expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of current asset or liability in the statement of
financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components
of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable

to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(p)

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are initially translated into Australian currency at the rate of
exchange at the date of the transaction. At reporting date amounts payable or receivable in foreign
currencies are translated to Australian currency at rates of exchange current at the reporting date.
Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss.

(q)

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of each class of
asset.
The estimated useful lives for the main classes of plant and equipment are as follows

fittings
Computer equipment
Fixtures and

5 years
3 - 5 years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally
constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.
Depreciation and amortisation rates and methods are reviewed annually for appropriateness.
When changes are made, adjustments are reflected prospectively in current and future periods

only. Depreciation is expensed in profit or loss.
The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the
asset at the time of disposal and the net proceeds on disposal.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(r)

lntangible assets
Acquired intangible assets are initially recorded at their cost at the date of acquisition being the
fair value of the consideration provided and, for assets acquired separately, incidental costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. lntangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a
straight line basis (unless the pattern of usage of the benefits is significantly different) over the
estimated useful lives of the assets being the periods in which the related benefits are expected
to be realised (shorter of legal duration and expected economic life). Amortisation rates and
residual values are reviewed annually and any changes are accounted for prospectively.
The carrying amount of intangible assets with finite useful lives is reviewed each reporting date
by determining whether there is an indication that the carrying value may be impaired. If any such
indication exists, the item is tested for impairment by comparing the recoverable amount of the
asset or its cash generating unit to the carrying value. Where the recoverable amount is
determined by the value-in-use, the projected net cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax
discount rate. For assets with indefinite useful lives, the recoverability of the carrying value of the
assets is tested for impairment at each reporting date, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. An impairment charge is recognised when
the carrying value exceeds the calculated recoverable amount. lmpairment charges are
recognised in profit or loss and may be reversed where there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
purchase consideration over the fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities acquired and is subsequently presented net of any impairment charges.

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The
recoverability of the carrying value of the goodwill allocated to each cash generating unit is tested
for impairment at each reporting date, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that it might be impaired, by determining the present value of projected net cash flows.
Where the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount, an impairment charge is recognised
in profit or loss and cannot subsequently be reversed. At the date of disposal of a business,
attributed goodwill is included in the share of net assets used in the calculation of the gain or loss
on disposal.

(s)

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on
hand and in banks and other short-term deposits with original maturities of 30 days or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(t)

Employee benefits
Wages, sa/aries and annual leave
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits), and
annual leave representing present obligations resulting from employees'services provided up to
the reporting date. Current amounts are calculated based on the remuneration rates that the
Company expects to pay and are not discounted. Any non-current amounts are discounted to
their current value.

Long service leave
The provision for employee benefits for long service leave represents the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made resulting from employees' services provided up to
reporting date. The provision is calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary
rates and expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates
attaching to Australian corporate bonds at reporting date which most closely match the terms of
maturity of the related liabilities. The unwinding of the discount is treated as long service leave
expense.

Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred.

(u)

lmpairment
An asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if
objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset,
and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that
can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include
default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that
the Company would not consider otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter
bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Company,
economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a
security. ln addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in
its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.

The Company considers evidence of impairment for receivables at both a specific asset and
collective level. All individually significant receivables are assessed for specific impairment. All
individually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Loans and receivables
that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together
loans and receivables with similar risk characteristics.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against
loans and receivables. When a subsequent event (e.9. repayment by a debtor) causes the amount
of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(v)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at fair value.

(w)

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Company has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. lf the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pretax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, risks specific to the
liability.

(x)

Contributed equity
Ordinary share capital is recognised at fair value of consideration received by the Company.
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up
of the Company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to
the number and amounts paid up on shares held. Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote,
either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company.

2

Accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of a financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates

and

assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may vary from estimates.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision effects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision effects both current and
future periods.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key areas of estimation uncertainty are the estimation of Outstanding Claims Liabilities and
Reinsurance Recoveries. These are discussed in detail in Note 22.
Certain critical accounting judgements adopted in applying the accounting policies are described below.

(a)

Estimation of Outstanding Claims Liabilities (refer Note 22)
Provision is made at the reporting date for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at
the reporting date, including the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported to the Company.
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Accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(a)

Estimation of Outstanding Glaims Liabilities (continued)
The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims gross of
the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. The Company takes all reasonable steps to
ensure that it has appropriate information regarding its claims exposure. However, given the
uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be
different from the original liability established.
The estimation of claims incurred but not reported ('IBNR'), as defined in Note 1(g) is generally
subject to a greater degree of uncertainty than the estimation of the cost of settling claims already
notified to the Company, where more information about the claim event is generally available.
IBNR claims may often not be apparent to the insured until many years after the events giving
rise to the claims have happened. The liability classes of business will typically display greater

variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because there is a greater degree of
difficulty in estimating IBNR reserves. For the Motor, Surety, Financial Risk and Property classes,
claims are typically reported soon after the claim event, and hence tend to display lower levels of
volatility.

ln calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims, the Company uses a variety of estimation
techniques, generally based upon statistical analysis of historical experience, which assumes that
the development pattern of the current claims will be consistent with past experience. Allowance
is made, however, for changes or uncertainties which may create distortion in the underlying
statistics, or which might cause the cost of unsettled claims to increase or reduce when compared
with the cost of previously settled claims.
A component of these estimation techniques is usually the estimation of the cost of notified but
not paid claims. ln estimating the cost of these the Company has regard to the claim
circumstances as reported, any information available from loss adjusters and information on the
cost of settling claims with similar characteristics in previous periods.
Large claims and catastrophe events impacting each relevant business class are assessed
separately, being measured on a case by case basis or projected separately in order to allow for
the possible distortive effect of the development and incidence of these large claims.
Provisions are calculated gross of any reinsurance recoveries. A separate estimate is made of
the amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurance based upon the gross provisions.
Details of specific assumptions used in deriving the outstanding claims liability at reporting date
are detailed in Note 3.

(b)

Reinsurance recoveries receivable (refer Note 13 and 30)
Assets arising from reinsurance recoveries are also computed using the above methods. ln
addition, the recoverability of these assets is assessed on a periodic basis to ensure that the
balance is reflective of the amounts that will ultimately be received, taking into consideration
factors such as counterparty and credit risk. lmpairment is recognised where there is objective
evidence that the Company may not receive amounts due to it and these amounts can be reliably
measured.
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Actuarialassumptionsandmethods
The Company utilises valuations performed by the Appointed Actuary to value the outstanding claims
and related reinsurance recoveries.

The actuarial methods used are based on the underlying attributes of the claims portfolios. The
valuations have been performed by grouping business expected to exhibit similar characteristics. The
methodology for determining the outstanding claims liability for the major lines of business is
summarised below.
Direct lnsurance and Inwards Reinsurance
The Company commenced writing direct insurance in 2004. While the volume of business written and
claims incurred has increased significantly since 2004, for some classes, there is still insufficient claims
history to model future loss developments using internal experience alone. For these classes industry
benchmarks from comparable insurers writing similar risks have been used to develop the losses to their
ultimate levels. For the classes where more credible internal claims experience is available past patterns
of loss development have been used in modelling developing losses to their ultimate levels.

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson ("BF") approach has continued to be the main method used to estimate the
total insurance liability for each class of business with the exception of the surety and financial risk
classes. The BF method blends the actual claims experience to date with a loss estimate based on a
combination of assumed ultimate loss ratios and the assumed loss development patterns. The assumed
loss development patterns adopted as part of the application of the BF method have been updated (as
described above) and the assumed ultimate loss ratios have been based on the Company's own recent
experience together with adjustments to allow for increases in premium rates and restrictions the
Company has placed on the risks underwritten. Where relevant an explicit IBNRyIBNER allowance is
made for large claims and catastrophe events as part of the valuation.
For the surety and financial risk classes of business, an IBNR/IBNER allowance is made for potential
development on each outstanding bond call and the potentialfor small delays between the date of loss
and notification to the Company. The total insurance liabilities for surety and financial risk portfolios also
include an allowance for premium liabilities equal to the unearned premium multiplied by an assumed
loss ratio for each class of business.

The valuation models include an implicit inflation assumption and so there is no explicit allowance for
future inflation. Projected claims payments are discounted to allow for the time value of money.

Claims handling expenses are assumed to be 2.5o/o (2019: 2.5%) of the gross outstanding claims
liability.

Reinsurance Recoveries for Direct and lnwards Reinsurance
The reinsurance recoveries are calculated with reference to the actual reinsurance treaties entered into,
having regard to the loss assumptions explicitly allowed for in the actuarial valuation techniques.

lnwards Reinsurance - Run-off
Claims estimates for the inwards reinsurance run-off portfolio are derived from analysis of past
experience with respect to claim payments and changes in case estimates. The main valuation method
used for this is the lncurred Cost Development ("lCD') method. The central estimate of outstanding
claims liabilities is calculated by deducting the cumulative paid losses from the central estimate of
ultimate claims losses. For the Asbestos valuation, the future claim payments have been assessed using

an expected future claim count and claim severity approach for IBNR and adding this to the case
estimates at reporting date.

An explicit inflation assumption of 5.75% (20'19: 5.75%) per annum is allowed for in the Asbestos and
Molestation valuation models. For all other valuation classes, the models allow for inflation implicitly
and therefore there is no explicit allowance for inflation.
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Actuarial assumptions and methods (continued)
lnwards Reinsurance - Run-off (continued)
It is assumed that there are no retrocessions recoveries for the lnwards Reinsurance

-

Run off classes.

Claims handling expenses are assumed to be 2.5o/o (2019: 2.5o/o) of the gross outstanding claims
liability.

The 75th percentile ultimate loss is used to generate the risk margin included in the liability valuation.
Paid Cost Development and Projected Case Estimate models are also studied to determine the
appropriate cash flow pattern for outstanding and future claim payments. Projected claims payments
are discounted to allow for the time value of money.

Actuarial assumptions
The actuarial assumptions used in determining the outstanding claims liabilities are:

average term to

Weighted

Claims handling
expenses (% of

settlement from

net central

reporting date
(years)

estimate)

The following discount rates were
used in the measurement of
outstanding claims (%)
For

succeeding

year

For subsequent
years

Direct lnsurance
0.10

3.99%

0.75 -

0.77

- 1.75
0.78 - 1.65

1.95

3.38%

0.10

0.10

0.11

1.98

3.97o/o

0.75 -

2020

7.69

3.30%

0.10

0.11-210

20'19

7.64

3.30%

0.77

0.81

2020

2.14

3.85%

2019

2.18

2020
2019

0.10

0.11

lnwards Reinsurance

lnwards Reinsurance
Run-off

0.77

- 1.75
0.78 - 1.65

- 1.81

23

Assetinsure Pty Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020
3

Actuarialassumptionsandmethods(continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

-

lnsurance Gontracts

An analysis of sensitivity around various scenarios provides an indication of the adequacy of the
estimation process in respect of the valuation of outstandlng claims. The table presented below
demonstrates the sensitivity of insured liability estimates in the estimation process. Certain variables
can be expected to impact outstanding claims liabilities more than others, and consequently a greater
degree of sensitivity to these variables can be expected.

The tables presented below demonstrate the sensitivity of insured liability estimates to particular
movements in assumptions used in the estimation process. The impact on reported profits of changes
in key variables is:
Change in

in

Gross
Outstanding
Claims

Change in
Net
Outstanding
Claims

Variable

2020

2020

%

$'ooo

$'ooo

+1o/o

(1,072)
1,162
1,162
(1,072)

Change

Change in
Gross
Outstanding

Claims
2019
$'000

Change in
Net

Outstanding
Claims

2019
$'ooo

Economic Factors
Discount rate
Discount rate
lnflation and superimposed inflation rates
lnflation and superimposed inflation rates
Claims handling expense
Claims handling expense

-1%
+1o/o

-1%

(823)
901
901

+1o/o

391

(823)
274

-1o/o

(3e1)

(274)

(e07)
996
996
(e07)
303
(303)

(726)
806
806

(726)
213

(213)

Direct lnsurance
Change in expected loss ratios
Change in expected loss ratios
Average weighted term to settlement
Average weighted term to settlement

+5o/o

827

536

787

-5o/o

(827)

(536)

(787)

+1 year

(83)
83

(52)

-1 year

52

(1

60)

161

493
(4e3)
(101)
102

lnwards Reinsurance
Change in expected loss ratios
Change in expected loss ratios
Average weighted time to settlement
Average weighted time to settlement

Inwards Reinsurance

-

+5o/o

79

58

207

'130

-5o/o

(7e)
(8)

(58)
(6)

(207)
(47)

(130)

6

47

27

+1 year

-1year

8

(27)

Run-off

IBNR ICD Run-off
IBNR ICD Run-off
Average weighted time to settlement
Average weighted time to settlement

+10o/o

167

167

247

247

-10%
+1 year

(167)
(58)

(167)

(247)

(247)

(58)

(85)

(85)

5B

B6

86

- 1 year

5B

The changes above are relative to the outstanding claims and reinsurance recoveries set out in Note 22
and 13 respectively. The change in net claims equates to the change in equity before tax.

Process used to determine assumptions
A description of the processes used to determine these assumptions is provided below:

Discount rate
Discount rates are derived from the yield curve on Australian Government Bonds as at reporting date
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Actuarialassumptionsandmethods(continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

- lnsurance Contracts (continued)

Process used to determine assumptions (continued)

Inflation and superimposed inflation
Superimposed inflation occurs due to non-economic effects such as court settlements increasing at a
faster rate than wages or CPI inflation. All valuation models used implicitly project ordinary and
superimposed inflation at the average levels evident in recent experience (3-5 years).
Claims handling expenses
Claims handling expenses are estimated after considering management's projected cost of running off
claims over the average term to settlement.
Average weighted time to settlement
The weighted average time to settlement is estimated by projecting the payment profile based on historic
claim settlement patterns and industry data. The claim payment profile is separately calculated by major
class of claim.

Average cl ai m frequency
Claims frequency is not calculated due to the type of business written

4

lnsurance risk management
Risk management objectives and policies for mitigating insurance risk
Policies have been established for accepting insurance risks. The risk under any one insurance contract
arises out of the uncertainty surrounding the timing and severity of claims under the contract.

The insurance risk on the direct insurance business is managed through underwriting limits, approval
procedures for transactions that involve new products or that exceed set limits, underwriting and pricing
guidelines, centralised management of reinsurance and monitoring of emerging issues. These policies
and procedures are consistently applied to both businesses written by the Company as a direct insurer
and as an agent for other insurers (where the Company shares in the risk via inwards reinsurance).
Several methods are used to assess and monitor insurance risk exposures both for individual types of
risks insured and overall risks. These methods include internal risk measurement models, sensitivity
analysis, scenario analysis and stress testing.
The theory of probability is applied to the pricing and provisioning for a porffolio of insurance contracts.
The principal risk is that the frequency and severity of claims is greater than expected. lnsurance events
are, by their nature, random, and the actual number and size of events during any one year may vary
from those estimated using established statistical techniques.
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lnsurance risk management (continued)
Objectives in managing risk arising from insurance and policies for mitigating those risks
The Company has an objective to control insurance risk thus reducing the volatility of operating profits.
ln addition to the inherent uncertainty of insurance risk, which can lead to significant variability in the
loss experience, profits from insurance business are affected by market factors, particularly competition
and movements in asset values. Short-term variability is, to some extent, a feature of insurance
business.

ln accordance with Prudential Standards CPS 220 Risk Management and GPS 230 Reinsurance
Managemenf issued by the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA), the Board and senior
management of the Group have developed, implemented and maintain a sound and prudent Risk
Management Strategy (RMS) and a Reinsurance Management Strategy (REMS).
The RMS and REMS identify the policies and procedures, processes and controls that comprise the risk
management and controls systems. These systems address all material risks, financial and nonfinancial, likely to be faced by the Company. Annually, the Board certifies to APRA that adequate
strategies have been put in place to monitor those risks, that the Company has systems in place to
ensure compliance with legislative and prudential requirements and that the Board has satisfied itself
as to the compliance with the RMS and REMS.
Key features of the processes established in the RMS and REMS to mitigate risks include:
a

The use of sophisticated management information systems to provide up to date data on the risks to
which the Company is exposed at any point in time.

a

Documented procedures are followed for underwriting and accepting insurance risks.

a

The mandatory use of proven premium rating tools to calculate required premium and deductibles
when accepting insurance risks.

a

Reinsurance is used to limit the exposure to large single claims and catastrophes. Reinsurance is
obtained only from reinsurers which have been assessed as providing high security.

a

Where feasible the concentration of credit risk to any individual reinsurer or group of related reinsurers
is limited.

Underwriting strategy

The underwriting strategy seeks to limit claims frequency through the application of clearly defined
underwriting guidelines. Risks are underwritten by a team of experienced underwriters who will only
underwrite risks which fall within well-defined parameters and authorities. Adherence to underurriting
authorities is closely monitored.

The underwriting strategy is documented in an annual business plan that sets out the classes of
business to be written and industry sectors to which the business is to be exposed. This strategy is
cascaded down to individual underwriters through detailed underwriting authorities that set out the limits
that any one underwriter can write by line size, class of business, territory and industry in order to enforce
appropriate risk selection within the portfolio. Authorisation from the Chief Executive Officer must be
obtained before entering into any contract which exceeds an individual underwriter's authority.

Adherence to the underwriting authorities is closely monitored using
management, peer and internal audit reviews.

a

combination

of

regular
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lnsurance risk management (continued)
Reinsurance strategy

A combination of proportional and non-proportional reinsurance treaties are purchased to reduce the
net exposure of the Company to a maximum $5.21 million (2019: $4.98 million) for surety and $6.8
million (2019: $6.8 million) for a small number of credit exposures and $3.3 million (2019: $1.5m) for
motor. ln addition, underwriters are allowed to buy facultative reinsurance in certain specified
circumstances. The process and authorities for the purchase of reinsurance is governed by the REMS
which is reviewed and approved by the Board annually. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
ensuring compliance with the REMS.
Proportional reinsurance was also purchased, to reduce the Builders Warranty net exposure to similar
levels to Surety. Following CBL lnsurance Ltd entering interim liquidation full collection of the related
reinsurance recoveries became doubtful. ln response the Company purchased additional reinsurance
and commenced a process of transitioning the larger exposures out of the portfolio. During this process
the Company's Board has agreed to accept a higher net exposure of $5.4m as at reporting date (2019:
$5.92m) This temporary increase in net exposure is forecast to continue to decrease during 2021.

Terms and conditions of insurance contracts
The terms and conditions of issued insurance and reinsurance contracts that have a material effect on
the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows arising from insurance contracts are discussed
below.

lnwards Reinsurance
Apart from business written as underwriting agent where the Company accepts a share of the risk
through inwards reinsurance, the Company ceased writing inwards reinsurance in 2002. All of the
inwards reinsurance treaties in existence when the reinsurance business was placed into run-off in
November 2002 have expired. Activities relating to these treaties are now confined to claims handling
and associated administration. The Company writes surety and financial risk business written as agent
and inwards reinsurer, refer below.
Direct lnsurance
The Company writes insurance risks mainly in Australia. Subject to specific terms provided and any
limits or excesses, insurance indemnifies the policyholder against loss or damage to their own material
property or in the case of liability business against claims from third parties.
The profit from direct insurance arises from the premiums charged to policyholders less the amounts
paid to cover claims and the expenses incurred by the Company. There is also scope to earn investment
income owing to the time delay between the receipt of premiums and payment of claims.

Direct insurance is written in a small number of well-defined product classes comprising builders
warranty, motor, surety and financial risk. Except for financial risk, the majority of direct insurance
contracts are written on a standard form basis. There are no special terms or conditions in any of the
non-standard contracts that have a material impact on the financial statements. A small number of
financial risk contracts are written each year. The terms and conditions of each contract are tailored to
the individual risk underwritten.
Concentrations of insurance risks
lnsurance risk is managed primarily through risk selection, product design, sensible pricing, appropriate
investment strategy and reinsurance. lt is vital that the Company reacts to changes in the general
economic and commercial environment in which it operates.
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lnsurance risk management (continued)
Goncentrations of insurance risks (continued)
Within the insurance process, concentrations of risk may arise where a particular event, or series of
events could impact heavily upon the Company's liabilities. Such concentrations may arise from a single
insurance contract or through a small number of related contracts and relate to circumstances where
significant liabilities could arise.

Interest rate risk
The insurance or reinsurance contracts contain no clauses that expose the Company directly to interest
rate risk. The majority of the insurance and reinsurance contracts are annually renewable.

Credit risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk on insurance contracts as a result of exposure to individual
clients, intermediaries or reinsurers.
The Company has a Credit Quality Risk Management Strategy which is reviewed and approved annually
by the Board. Other than with respect to premium receivables, the Company does not have any material
exposure to individual clients or intermediaries which would materially impact the operating profit. ln
the event of non-payment of premium the Company has the right to cancel the policy issued. The credit
risk to reinsurers is managed by having a pre-determined policy on the appropriate rating a reinsurer
must have to participate in the reinsurance programme. At reporting date, with only some minor
exceptions, the entire reinsurance programme was placed with reinsurers with either a Standard &
Poor's or AM Best credit ratings of "A-' or better. Where a reinsurer is downgraded during the term of
a reinsurance contract the Company will review its options regarding the contract but may continue
ceding business to the reinsurer subject to Board approval. Refer Note 30 for details of the events that
occurred during the previous reporting period which affected the credit rating and certainty of recovery
in relation to reinsurance placed with CBL lnsurance Limited.
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2020
$'000

5
(a)

2019
$'000

Revenue
Revenue from insurance activities
Direct
Gross written premiums
Movement in unearned premium

32,832
(5,729\
27,103

35,555
(3,537)

37,206
(8,484)
28,722

26,756
(5,841)
20,915

Totalpremium revenue

55,825

52,933

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue

13,955

5,677

Total insurance revenue

69,780

58,610

3,454

3,104
7,432
4,840

Premium revenue

-

direct

lnwards reinsurance
Gross written premiums
Movement in unearned premium

Premium revenue

(b)

-

inwards reinsurance

32,018

Revenue from other activities
From operating activities:
Services revenue
lT services
Underwriting agency commission
Underwriting fees
Other fees
Rent
lnvestment revenue
lnterest
Realised gain on sale of investments
Change in fair market value of investments

Total revenue from other activities

(c)

9,099

7,458
1,262

955

312

1,125
650
(48)

1,967
476
420

23,000

19,506

69,780
23,000

58,610
19,506

92,780

78,116

Total revenue from all activities
lnsurance activities
Other activities
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2019

2020
$'ooo

6

lnsurance underwriting result
Premium revenue
Outwards rei nsurance expense

55,825

(15,128\

52,933
(11,387)

40,697

41,546

(35,361)
13,955

(17,849)

Net premium revenue
Claims expense
Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue
Net claims incurred

Underwriting expenses

(21,4061
(9,335)

Undenvriting result

7

$'000

5,677
(12,1721
(19,201)

10,173

9,956

Net claims incurred
During the year the Company undenrvrote direct insurance and inwards reinsurance contracts as well
as continuing to manage the run-off of the reinsurance business that was placed in run-off in 2002.
The total net claims incurred for these activities are presented below.

Direct lnsurance and lnwards Reinsurance
2020

$'000

Prior
years
$'ooo

30,092
(e,873)

4,689
(3,e67)

Current

year
Gross claims incurred and related expenses - undiscounted
Reinsurance and other recoveries - undiscounted
Net claims incurred - undiscounted
Discount movement - gross claims
Discount movement - reinsurance and other recoveries
Net discount movement
Net Direct and lnwards Reinsurance claims incurred

722

20,219
(45)

348

11

(126)

(34)

222

944

20,185

Total
$'000
34,781
(13,840)
20,941
303
15)
188

(1

21,129

2019
Current
year
$'000
Gross claims incurred and related expenses - undiscounted
Reinsurance and other recoveries - undiscounted
Net claims incurred - undiscounted
Discount movement - gross claims
Discount movement - reinsurance and other recoveries
Net discount movement
Net Direct and lnwards Reinsurance claims incurred

26,707
7 872

18,835
(25e)
69

(1e0)

18,645

Prior
years
$'000
(e,884)
2 422
(7

Total
$'ooo

6,823
450

11,373
795
(2e6)
499

(6,963)

536

(227)
309

11,682
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7

Net claims incurred (continued)

Reinsurance Run-off
2020
Current

year
$'000

Prior
years
$'000

Total
$'ooo

Gross claims incurred and related expenses - undiscounted
Reinsurance and other recoveries - undiscounted

51

51

Net claims incurred

- undiscounted

51

51

Discount movement - gross claims
Discount movement - reinsurance and other recoveries
Net discount movement

226

226

226

226

Net Reinsurance Run-off claims incurred

277

277

20'19

Current

year
$'ooo

Prior
years
$'000

(210)

(210)

210\

Q10\

Discount movement - gross claims
Discount movement - reinsurance and other recoveries
Net discount movement

700

700

700

700

Net Reinsurance Run-off claims incurred

490

490

Gross claims incurred and related expenses - undiscounted
Reinsurance and other recoveries - undiscounted
Net claims incurred - undiscounted

Note
8

Total
$'ooo

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

35,361

17,849

9,335

19,201
11,387

Expenses

lnsurance activities
Claims expense
Underwriting expenses
Outwards reinsurance expense
Management fees
Other expenses

Total expenses

6
6
6

15,128
22,565
6,284

88,673

19,541

2,190
70,168
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9

2020

2019

$'000

$'ooo

Profit before income tax
Profit before income tax has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting) the following items:

lnsurance activities
Foreign currency losses / (gains)
lncrease in provision for impairment of:
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

2,849

(545)

1,050
422

430

705

Allactivities
Depreciation

83

139

lmpairment of intangibles

250

lmpairment of goodwill

181

Personnel expenses:
Wages and salaries
lncrease in liability for long service leave
Contributions to defined contribution plans

All personnel are employed by the parent entity

10

Income tax expense

Numerical reconciliation between income tax expense and
pre-tax profit
Profit before income tax

4,107

7,948

lncome tax at the standard rate of 30o/o (2019: 30%)

1,232

2,384

lncrease/(decrease) in income tax due to:
Net non-assessable income
Net non-deductible expenses
Under/(over) provision in prior years

Total income tax expense attributable to operating profit

126
(3)

63

1,229

2,573

lncome tax expense comprises:
Provision attributable to prior years
Provision attributable to future years:

Change in deferred tax assets
Change in deferred tax liabilities
Tax payable
Transferred to consolidated tax group

(27)
(2,474)
895

2,835

(63)
513

(412)
1,875
660

1,229

2,573
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Dividends
No dividend has been declared for the current reporting period (2019: no dividend)

12

2019

2020
$'000

$'000

55,599
32,136

36,039
38. 396

87,735

74.435

78,923

63,335

2,908

4,400

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables:
Current
Non-Current

Trade and other receivables comprise:
Trade debtors:
Other corporations
Sundry debtors:
Other corporations
Related corporations
Loan to related corporation (refer Note 29)

72

80

7,753

7,491

Total sundry debtors

10,733

11.971

Provision for impairment (refer Note 33 (b))

(1,921\

Totaltrade and other receivables

87,735

(871)
74.435
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13

2020

2019

$'000

$'000

Reinsurance and other recoveries receivable
Reinsurance and other recoveries
Current
Non-current

5,430

3,293

8 797

7 088

14,227

10,381

The reinsurance and other recoveries comprise:
Expected future reinsurance recoveries undiscounted
On paid claims
On outstanding claims liability

-

Total recoveries

-

undiscounted

Discount to present value

Total reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

B

8

16,731

12,578

16,739

12,586

(72)

(1

87)

16,667

12,399

Balance at beginning of year
Charged to profit

(2,018)

(422)

(1,588)
(430)

Balance at end of year (refer Note 33(b))

(2,4401

(2,018)

Total reinsurance and other recoveries receivable

14,227

10,381

4,943

3,823
17,335

Provision for impairment:

The reconciliation of reinsurance recoveries is included in Note 22

14

Deferred acquisition costs
Deferred acquisition costs at 1 January
Acquisition costs deferred during the year
Amortisation charged to profit for the year

5,313
(328)

(16,215)

9,928

4,943

Current
Non-Current

4,874

1,633

5,054

3,310

Total deferred acquisition costs

9,928

4,943
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$'ooo

2019
$'ooo

lnvestments - unquoted
Monies at call
Fixed term deposits
Units in unit trusts

14,113
28,170

31,O52

14,017

13,415

Total investments (current)

56,300

47,220

2020

15

Investments
Gurrent
2,753

Non-current
lnvestments - unquoted:
lnvestment in subsidiary
Loan to parent company

850

350

7 000

7 000

Total i nvestments (non-current)

7,850

7,350

64,150

54,570

Total investments

The Company has provided a $10 million (2019: $10 million) loan facility to its parent company. The
facility is on commercialterms. lnterest is payable half yearly ala3.0oh margin over BBSW. Repayment
is due on 16 December 2023.
Fair value hierarchy
The investments carried at fair value have been classified under three levels based on a hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in the determination of fair value, as follows:

o
.
o

Level

1: quoted prices (unadjusted)

in active markets for identical assets;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset
whether directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
Level

3:

inputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data.

2020
$'000

2019
$'000

Level 1
Level 2
Level 3

42,283

33,805

14,017
7 850

13,415

lnvestments carried at fair value through profit and loss

64,150

54,570

7 350

There have been no movements between levels during the year. The investments classified as Level 3
are the investments in Enthusiast Underwriting Pty Limited made in 2017 and 2020 and the loan

provided to the parent company. The net carrying values are considered

to be

reasonable

approximations of the fair value.
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2020

2019

$'ooo

$'000

Deferred tax balances
Deferred tax assets are attributable to the following:

Assets:
(6e)
620

Plant and equipment
Other

(76)
73)

(1

Liabilities

17

Provisions

2,848

2,058

Net deferred tax assets (non-current)

3,399

1,809

10,456

17,359
(15,128)

10,843
11,000
(11,387)

12,687

10,456

5,952
6,735

5,1 68

12,687

10,456

Deferred reinsurance expense
Deferred reinsurance expense at 1 January
Reinsurance expenses deferred during the year
Reinsurance expense charged to profit during year

Current
Non-Current

Deferred reinsurance expense
18

5,288

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment

- owned

Valuation basis

At cost

At cost

Balance at 1 January
Acquisitions
Disposals

5,994

6,013

Balance at the end of the year

6,056

5,994

Valuation basis

At cost

At cost

Balance at 1 January
Depreciation charge for the year
Accumulated depreciation on disposals

5,765
83

5,626

Balance at the end of the year

5,848

5,765

208

229

62

15B

(177)

Depreciation
Plant and equipment

-

owned

Total plant and equipment (non-current)

139
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2020
$'ooo
19

2019
$'000

Intangible assets
Brand name

-

lndefinite life

Cost
Cost at the beginning of the year
Acquisitions

250

Disposals
(250)

Accumulated impairment losses

Brand name net carrying value at 31 December
Other intangibles
Gost
Cost at the beginning of the year
Acquisitions

250

250

250

250

(250)

(250)

(250)

(250)

Disposals

Total cost

Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at beginning of year
Amortisation during the year
Accumulated amortisation on disposals
Accum

u

lated amortisation

Other intangibles net carrying value at 31 December
Total intangible assets (non-current)

20

Goodwill
Cost at the beginning of the year
Additions

312

Disposals
Accu mulated impairment

1

Total goodwill (non-current)
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2020

2019

$'000

$'ooo

Trade creditors
Related corporations
Other corporations

29,185
8,211

14,408

2 514

631

Totalpayables

39,910

20,883

Current
Non-Current

35,835

18,478

4,075

2,405

Totaltrade and other payables

39,911

20,883

30

33

Trade and other payables
5,844

Australian dollar equivalent of amounts payable in foreign
currencies not effectively hedged:
Hong Kong dollars

22
(a)

Outstanding claims liabilities

Outstandingclaimsliabilities
Outstanding claims liabilities:
Current
Non-current

Centralestimate
Prudential margin
Claims handling costs

(b)

15,392

11,648

31,851

25,076

47,243

36,724

39,881

31,688
5,457
819

7,052
1,022

37,964

Discount to present value

47,955
(711)

Gross outstanding claims liabilities

47,244

36,724

(.240\

Prudential margin
Process for determining prudential margin
The prudential margin is an additional allowance for uncertainty in the ultimate cost of claims. The
overall margin adopted is determined by the Board after considering the uncertainty in the portfolio,
industry trends and the entity's risk appetite. To determine the margin adopted the Appointed Actuary
has reviewed the factors impacting the portfolio to establish a recommended margin at the level required
by the Board. Factors considered include:

.

variability of claims experience of the portfolio

o quality of historical data

.

diversification between different classes within the portfolio

The level of uncertainty varies between classes of business, and as such the adopted prudential margin
varies between business classes. The prudential margin adopted is applied to the central estimate with
appropriate reinsurance recoveries provided. The aggregate prudential margin, after diversification
allowance, is intended to achieve a 75o/o probability of sufficiency. The prudential margin was
determined for each of the individual valuation classes with the overall margin allowing for diversification
between the classes. The prudential margin for the whole portfolio is set out below.

Overall margin allowing for diversification

2020

2019

16.2o/o

18.60/o
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(c)

Outstanding claims liabilities (continued)
Reconciliation of movement in discounted outstanding claims liability
Direct lnsurance and lnwards Reinsurance
2020
$'000

2019
$'000

Re-

Re-

Gross

insurance

Net

Gross

insurance

Net

Balance at 1 January

28,809

(12,3ee)

16,410

30,443

(16,213)

14,230

Current year claims incurred

30,093

(9,873)

20,220

26,707

(7,76s)

18,938

4,689

(3,e67)

722

(e,884)

2,432

(7,452)

98

(8,170)

(10,073)

3,341

(6,732)

3,489

(5,2e3)

(8,e20)

6,038

6,552)

23,889

28,273

(12,1711

'16,102

1s)

188

536

(228)

308

Change in previous years
claims
Current year claims paid /
reinsurance recovered
Previous year claims paid /
reinsurance recovered

(14,368)

Undiscounted outstanding
claims

40,441

Effect of change in discount
allowance

303

Balance at 31 December

6,1

(8,782)
(1

(1

40,7M (16,667)

24,077

28,809 (12,399)

,

(2,882)

16,410

Reinsurance Run-off
2019
$'000

2020
$'000
RetroGross
Balance at 1 January

cession

RetroNet

7,915

7,915

28

28

Gross
8,509

cession

Net
8,509

Current year claims incurred
Change in previous years
claims
Current year claims paid /
reinsurance recovered

(210)

(210)

Previous year claims paid /
reinsurance recovered

(1,670)

(1,670)

(1,084)

(1,084)

Undiscou nted outstanding

6,273

6,273

7,215

7,215

227

227

700

700

6,500

6,500

7,915

7,915

claims
Effect of change in discount
allowance

Balance at 31 December
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(d)

Outstandingclaimsliabilities(continued)
Claims development tables
The following tables show the development of gross and net undiscounted outstanding claims relative
to the ultimate expected claims for the five most recent undenivriting years. The estimate of ultimate
claims cost at the end of the underwriting year does not include the premium liability at that point in time.
By one year later generally the entire premium has been earned and the estimate of ultimate claims cost
reflects the full amount in respect of the premium written in the relevant underwriting year.

Claims development tables are disclosed in order to put the claims estimates included in the financial
statements into context, allowing comparison of those claims estimates with the claims results seen in
previous years. ln effect, the tables highlight the Company's ability to provide an estimate of the total
value of claims. The top part of the table provides a review of current estimates of cumulative claims
and demonstrates how the estimated claims have changed at subsequent reporting or accident yearends. The lower part of the table provides a reconciliation of the total reserve included in the statement
of financial position and the estimates of cumulative claims. The analysis includes the aggregated
results of long tail classes.

Direct lnsurance and lnwards Reinsurance business

(i)
Undenivriting

Gross

year

and 2016
prior $'000

2015

2017

g'000

2018
$'000

2019
$'000

Total

2020
$'000

$'000

$'000
Estimate of ultimate claims cost:

At end of underuriting year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later

178,739
326,447
316,699
306,333
306,553
309,288

8,988
17,187
16,635
17,275
17,059

Current estimate of cumulative
claims cost
Cumulative payments

309,288

17,059

26,452

(15,703)

(19,143)

1,356

7,309

Gumulative claims
undiscounted

-

Discount

Outstanding claims
Prudential margin and claims
handling expenses

Total gross outstanding claims
recognised in the statement of
financial position

e99.265\
10,023
(1

09)

8,337
17,910

20,436
26,452

7,966
14,538

230,763

8,5 18

398,907
383,533
350,060

323,612
309,288

G\

Q4)

9.914 1.352 7.285
256 1,381
1,881
11,795

18,215

22,825
29,763

1,608 8,666

29,763
961 )

6,802
37)

765

1,282

8,047

14,538

8,518

(10.673)

(3.411\

3,865

(20\

405,618
(371

5,107
(18)

3.845 5.089

,1

56)

34,462

(212\
34,250

729

965

6,494

4,574

6,054

40,744
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(d)

Outstanding claims liabilities (continued)
Glaims development tables (continued)

Direct lnsurance and lnwards Reinsurance business (continued)

(ii)

/Vef

Undenrrrriting

year

2015

and 2016 2017

f,til

20'18

$'000 $'000

$'000

2019
$'000

2020
$'000

Total
$'000

Estimate of ultimate claims cost:

At end of undenuriting year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Current estimate of cumulative
claims cost
Cumulative payments

Gumulative claims
undiscounted

-

Discount

Outstanding claims
Prudential margin and claims
handling expenses

Total net outstanding claims
recognised in the statement of
financial position

63,709
128,421

128,670
124,050
124,204

3,387
7,714

7,942
8,491

2,362
7,767

9,431

8,029
11,417
14,906

s,882
8,107

4,572

87,941
163,426
160,949
146,300
132,496
128,883

4,572

178,519

13,759

8,292

128,883
128,883

8,292

13,759

14,906

8,107

(123.989)

(7.662\

(8.457)

(10 .037)

(5.396)

(2.626\

4,894

630

5,302

4,869

2,711

1,946

20,352

(58)

Q\

14

n2\

i141\

4.836
588

5,424

(29\

628 5.273
77

642

(26\
4 .843

590

2

(1s8.167)

.697 1.934 20.211
329 1,640 3,866

705 5,915 5,433 3,026 3,574

24,077

41

Assetinsure Pty Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

22
(d)

Outstanding claims liabilities (continued)
Claims development tables (continued)

Reinsurance Run-off
The last undenruriting year in which new business was written for the reinsurance run-off portfolio was
2002. Therefore, for the claims development table presented on an underwriting year basis, the
figures for allyears from and including 2003 are all zeroes and so have not been disclosed.

2002 and prior
$'000

Undenivriting year

Gross

Net

983,911
1,039,091

831,395

1,053,784

860,1 91

1,049,356
1,054,336
1 ,049,1 88

857,1 89

Estimate of ultimate claims cost:

At end of undenvriting year
One year later
Two years later
Three years later
Four years later
Five years later
Six years later
Seven years later
Eight years later
Nine years later
Ten years later
Current estimate of cumulative claims cost
Cumulative payments

Cumulative claims

-

undiscounted

870,652

1,017,884

862,036
860,793
855,534
843,389
840,661
839,892
830,938

1,015,'.t17
(1,00e,6e8)

828,002
(822,583)

5,419

5,419

1,045,114
1,033,147
1,030,735
1,028,229

(4ee)

(4ee)

Outstanding claims

4,920

4,920

Prudential margin and claims handling expenses

1,580

1,580

Total outstanding claims recognised in the statement of
financial position

6,500

6,500

Discount
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Current
Non-Current

Unearned premium Iiabilities at 31 December

55,523
70,038
(55,835)

46,142
62,311
(52.930)

69,726

55,523

32,713
37,013

27,445
28,078

69,726

55,523

2,255

2,360

9,099

(9,292)

7,431
(7,536)

2,062

2,255

1,078

1 1

984

1 1

Unearnedcommissionliabilities
Unearned commission liabilities at 1 January
Deferral of commission revenue during the year
Earning of commission revenue during the year

Current
Non-Current

Unearned commission liabilities at 31 December

25

$'ooo

Unearned premium liabilities
Unearned premium liabilities at 1 January
Deferral of premiums written during the year
Earning of premiums during the year

24

2019

2020
$'000

44

2,062

2,255

Provision for income tax payable
Provision for withholding tax payable
Provision for goods and services tax

2,835
226

1,875
259

Total current tax liabilities

3,4n

Gurrent tax balances
Current tax liabilities

361

261

2395
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2019

2020
$'000

$'000

lssued capitalat 1 January

41,860

41,860

lssued capital at 31 December

41,860

41,860

lssued capital
lssued and paid-up share capital

The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares

27

Auditors'remuneration
Amounts in whole dollars

28
(a)

2020

2019

$

Amounts paid or payable to Deloitte for:
Audit services - current year
Audit services - prior year
Other services

$

205,057

205,000

55,869

43,050

Total auditors' remuneration

262,221

248,050

1,295

Capital management
Capital management strategy
The capital management strategy plays a central role in managing risk to create shareholder value whilst
meeting the crucial and equally important objective of providing an appropriate level of capital to protect
policyholders' and lenders' interests and satisfy regulators. Capitalfinances growth, capital expenditure
and business plans and also provides support in the face of adverse outcomes from insurance, other
activities and investment performance.

The determination of the capital amount and mix is built around two core considerations:

(i)

Regulatory capital

The Company is registered with APRA and is subject to the prudential standards which set out the basis

for calculating the prescribed capital amount ("PCA") which is a minimum level of capital that the
regulator deems must be held to meet policyholder obligations. The capital base is expected to be
adequate for the size, business mix, complexity and risk profile of its business and so the PCA utilises

a

risk-based approach

to capital adequacy. The Company uses the standardised framework for

calculating the PCA detailed in the relevant prudential standard and referred to as the prescribed method
which is determined to be the sum of the capital charges for insurance, investment, investment

concentration and catastrophe concentration

risk. lt is Company

policy to hold regulatory capital in

excess of the PCA as required by APRA. PCA is a derivation of the required capital to meet the 1 in 200
year risk of absolute ruin. Capital calculations for regulatory purposes are based on the premium
liabilities model which is different to the deferral and matching model which underpins the measurement
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements. The premium liabilities model assesses future claim
payments arising from future events insured under existing policies. This differs to the measurement of
the outstanding claims liability on the statement of financial position which considers claims relating to
events that occur only up to and including the reporting date.

The Company has implemented an lnternal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) as part of
its compliance with prudential standards. The purpose of ICAAP is to assist the Company in making a
proactive internal assessment of its capital requirements considering the current strategy, business plan
and associated risks inherent in that business plan.
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(a)
(i)

Capital management (continued)
Gapital management strategy (continued)
Regulatorycapital(continued)
ln addition to the internal capital requirement, the ICAAP recognises the capital required for regulatory
purposes, and identifies planned and potential sources of capital required to meet these objectives. The
ICAAP is also designed to further augment the current corporate governance practices undertaken in
respect of the ongoing assessment of the Company's risk profile, risk appetite, strategic plan and capital
adequacy.

(ii)

Economic capital

ln conjunction with the considerations set out above, which are important to the functioning of the
business, consideration is given to the operational capital needs of the business. The capital objectives
are achieved through dynamic management of the statement of financial position and capital mix.

(b)

Capitalcomposition
Totalcapital is calculated as equity as shown in the statement of financial position

(c)

Regulatory capital compliance
Prudential standards in effect at reporting date set out the basis for calculating the PCA for licensed
insurers. The PCA utilises a risk-based approach and is determined as the sum of the capital charges

for insurance, investment, investment concentration and catastrophe risk.
The PCA of the Company is as follows:

Note

Tier 1 capital
Paid up ordinary shares
Retained earnings brought fonrvard
Current year earnings
Proposed dividendsl

26

2020
$'000

2019
$'000

41,860

41,860

15,172

9,800

2,878

5,372

(1,700)

4,942

7,747

63,152

64,779

Total capital base

63,152

64,779

lnsurance risk charge

10,943

B,662

lnsurance concentration risk charge

10,186

7,960

I,832

7,409

1,822

1,595

Less: Aggregation benefit

(5,485)

(4,526)

Prescribed capital amount

26,298

21,100

Gapital adequacy multiple

2.40

3.07

APRA accounting basis adjustments
Net Tier 1 capital
Net Tier 2 capital

Asset risk charge
Asset concentration risk charge
Operational risk charge

A proposed dividend has been included in the calculation of the Total capital base. The proposed
dividend is subject to APRA approval and has not been provided for in the financial statements.
1
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Key management personnel disclosures
Key management personnel
The following were key management personnel of the Company at any time during the reporting period.

Directors unless otherwise indicated were Directors for the entire period.

Non-executive Di rectors
Mr Henricus Sprangers (Chairman)
Mr Donny Gouveia
Mr Christopher Old
Mrs Julie Osborne
Mr Steven Rankine
Mr Johnny Symmonds
Mr Peter Wedgwood

(appointed
(appointed
(appointed
(appointed
(appointed
(appointed
(appointed

1 September 2003, resigned 31 December 2020)

1 July 2019, resigned 7 April2020)
26 March 2018)
25 November 2014)
30 June 2020)
7 April 2020)
30 June 2020)

Executive Directors
Mr Gregor Pfitzer

(resigned 31 December 2020)

Executives
Mr Hamish Lilly (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr Martin McConnell (Head of Financial Risk Products
Mr Andrew Calvert (Head of Surety)

-

appointed CEO on 1 January 2021)

Mr Damian Gorman (Head of Credit)

Transactions with key management personnel
Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the
Company since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving
Directors' interests existing at reporting date.
Directors of the Company hold positions in other entities that result in them having control or significant
influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities. The terms and conditions of the
transactions with Directors and their Director related entities were no more favourable than those
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-Director
related entities on an arm's length basis.

Mr P Wedgwood is a Director of Cumulus Vineyards Pty Limited. Loans have been advanced by the
Company to Cumulus Vineyards Pty Limited. The balance of the loan at reporting date was $7,753,307
(2019: $7,490,595). The loan is secured with a third ranking fixed and floating charge over the assets
of the company. lnterest is charged at 3.0% above BBSW.

Compensation
No personnel are employed by the Company. All personnel providing services to the Company are
employed by the parent. Key management personnel compensations paid by the parent entity were as
follows:
2020

2019

$

$

Short-term em ployee benefits
Other longterm benefits
Post-em ployment benefits
Termination benefits

3,591,986

1,967,803

174,200

94,463

Total

3,766,186

2,062,266

The increase in 2O2O reflects the addition of three executives to the Executive Committee during the
year.
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Related party disclosures

The Company has a related party relationship with its parent entity, ultimate parent entity, other
companies associated with its parent entity, and their Directors and Executive Officers.

Transactions with parent entity
During the year, the Company expensed $22,564,470 (2019: $19,541,065) for reimbursement to the
parent company for actual expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. Of that amount, $8,2'11,045
remained payable at reporting date (2019:$5,844,000).
As at reporting date, there was a loan to the parent entity of $7,000,000 (2019: $7,000,000).

Transactions with Subsidiary
During the year, the company paid agency commissions to Enthusiast Underwriting Pty Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, amounting to $1,553,436 (2019: $817,726). The balance payable at
reporting date was $239,716 (2019: $140,953).

Transactions with Lombard Group entities
On 1 July 2019 100o/o of the shares of Assetinsure Holdings Pty Limited, the Company's parent entity,
were purchased by Lombard Australia Holdings Pty Limited (LAH). From that date, entities related to
LAH became related parties of the Company. The Company has been underwriting business with
entities related to LAH since before they became a related party. All contracts are on normal commercial
terms.

During the year excess of loss reinsurance contracts were entered into with Lombard lnsurance
Company Limited (LlC) reinsuring builder's warranty and credit enhancement risks and agency fee
revenue was generated from the Petrobond undenvriting agency agreement with LIC entered into in
2018.
The transactions since 1 July 2019 and outstanding balances at reporting date are as follows:

2020
$000's

2019
$000's

Lombard lnsurance Gompany Limited
Revenue:
Agency fees

180

111

275

147

154

BO

Expenses:
Reinsurance premium ceded

Balances at 31 December:
Trade and other receivables
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Ultimate parent entity
The Company's parent entity is Assetinsure Holdings Pty Limited and the ultimate Australian parent
entity, and ultimate parent entity, is Lombard Australia Holdings Pty Limited.
Lombard Holdings Australia Pty Limited is a newly formed Australian holding company that is part of an
alliance of specialty insurers coordinated by the Lombard lnsurance Group based in South Africa.

Lombard Holdings Australia Pty Limited purchased 100o/o of the shares of Assetinsure Holdings Pty
Limited effective 1 July 2019.

32
(i)

Notes to the statement of cash flows

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as at reporting date as shown in the statement of cash flows, is reconciled
to the related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

(ii)

2020

2019

$'000

$'ooo

Cash at bank

29,940

17,990

lnvestments - monies at call

14,113

2,753

Totalcash and cash equivalents

44,053

Reconciliation of profit
operating activities

20,743

for the year to net cash from

Profit after income tax
Depreciation and impairment of plant and equipment
Amortisation and impairment of intangibles and goodwill
Net realised gain/loss from investments
Net unrealised gain/loss from investments

Net cash from operating activities before change in assets
and liabilities

2,878

5,375

B3

139

1,050

431

(650)

(476)

48

(420)

3,409

5,049

(25,412)

(4,197)

43,556

(4,151)

Movement in operating assets and liabilities
(lncrease) / decrease in operating assets
lncrease / (decrease) in operating liabilities
Movement in tax balances
Net cash from operating activities

563
20,990

165
(1,1341

The presentation of some comparative figures in this note have been changed to conform to the
current period's presentation format.
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Financial risk management
The activities of the Company expose it to a variety of financial risks such as market risk (including
currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Board and senior management of the Company have developed, implemented and maintain a Risk
Management Strategy ('RMS') which is discussed in more detail in Note 4. The Company's risk
management framework recognises the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Company.
The key objectives of the Company's asset and liability management strategy are to ensure sufficient
liquidity is maintained at all times to meet the Company's obligations, including its settlement of
insurance liabilities and, within these parameters, to optimise investment returns for policyholders and
shareholders.

(a)
(i)

Market risk
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of loss arising from an unfavourable move in market exchange rates.

The Company is exposed to currency risk on its receivables and payables denominated in a currency
other than Australian dollars, and the financial assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency
are summarised in Note 21.

The Company is also exposed to currency risk through one inwards reinsurance contract. While the
reinsurance premium receivable by the Company is denominated in Australian dollars, the underlying
policies reinsured are denominated in various currencies (mainly USD). Under the terms of the contract
the cedant is entitled to pass on to the Company the cost or benefit of any currency fluctuation on the
value of the outstanding premiums receivable in proportion to the Company's reinsurance share.

For the premium receivables at reporting date relating to that inwards reinsurance contract, a
strengthening of the Australian dollar by 1% against each of the rates would reduce the total Australian

dollar value by $15,000 with the largest impact of $12,000 from USD denominated policies. A
depreciation of the Australian dollar would broadly have the opposite effect.

(ii)

Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate and currency risk). The Company
is exposed to price risk on its investment in fixed interest securities. To manage its price risk arising from

these investments, the Company diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in
accordance with limits documented in the Company's Asset and Asset Concentration Risk Management
Strategy Statement.
The sensitivity analysis of financial assets/liabilities to price risk was not prepared because the Company

was not exposed to significant price risk as at the current or prior year reporting date.

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
lnterest rate risk is the risk of loss arising from an unfavourable movement in market interest rates. The
Company is exposed to interest rate risk arising from interest bearing assets. Assets with floating rate
interest expose the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. Fixed interest rate assets expose the
Company to fair value interest rate risk. The Company's strategy is to invest in high quality, liquid fixed
interest securities and cash and to actively manage duration. The investment portfolios are actively
managed to achieve a balance between cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk
bearing in mind the need to meet the liquidity requirements of the insurance business.

The Company is also exposed to interest rate risk arising from longterm interest bearing liabilities.
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Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

(iv)

Summarised

se

nsitivity analysis

The impact from the measurement of the Company's interest bearing assets and liabilities held at
reporting date of a change in interest rates at reporting date by
in the table below:

+1o/o

or -1o/o on profit and equity is shown

Garrying
amount
$'000

lnterest rate risk

-1Yo

+1o/o

ProfiUequity ProfiUequity

$'000

$'000

(1,162\

1,072

(1,162)

1,072

2020

Financial liabilities
Outstanding claims
Net amount

47,244
47,244

2019

Financial Iiabilities
Outstanding claims

36,724

(806)

726

Net amount

36,724

(806)

726

The sensitivity analysis provided in the table demonstrates the effect of a change in a key assumption
while other assumptions remain unchanged. ln reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions
and other factors. The sensitivity analysis does not take into consideration that the Company's assets
and liabilities are actively managed and so assumes no action by the Company in response to
movements in the factor. Additionally, the financial position of the Company may vary at the time that
any actual market movement occurs.

(b)

Gredit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss from a counterparty failing to meet their financial obligations. The
Company's credit risk arises predominantly from investment activities and reinsurance activities.
The Company has a Credit Quality Risk Management Strategy which is reviewed and approved by the
Board annually. Other than with respect to premium receivables, the Company does not have any
material exposure to individual clients or intermediaries which would materially impact the operating
profit. ln the event of non-payment of premium the Company has the right to cancel the policy issued.
The credit risk to reinsurers is managed through the Company having a pre-determined policy on the
appropriate rating a reinsurer must have to participate in the reinsurance programme.
The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of recognised
financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the statement of financial position.
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(b)

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
At reporting date other than the following, the Company had no significant concentrations of credit risk
2019

2020
$'ooo
National Australia Bank
Australia and New Zealand Banking
Bendigo and Adelaide Bank
Hannover Ruckversicherung AG
Swiss Re
Cumulus Vineyards Pty Limited
UBS Australian Bond Fund

$'ooo

22,462

13,814

26,897

11,908
14,000

22,000

8,539
2,617
7,491
13,415
10,882

8,049
3,187

7,753
14,017

ING Direct

The ageing of the Company's trade and other receivables and reinsurance and other recoveries
receivable is as follows:
Not yet
due
$'000

91-180

180+

days
$'o0o's

days

85,539

694

1,502

1,456

740

87,735

14,227
99,766

694

1,502

1.456

740

101,962

72,517

767

1,151 1,336

582

74,435

767

1,151 1,336

582

84,8f 6

$'000's

Total
past due

Past due
and

but not
impaired
$'ooo

impaired
$'000

Total
$'000

2020
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other
recoveries receivable

14,227

2019
Trade and other receivables
Reinsurance and other
recoveries receivable

10 381

82,898

10 381
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(b)

Financial risk management (continued)
Gredit risk (continued)
The credit risk relating to investments is monitored and assessed and maximum exposures are limited.
The investments comprising assets held to back insurance liabilities are restricted to investment grade
securities.
The table below provides information regarding the Company's credit risk exposure by classifying certain

assets that are subject to credit risk, according to the Standard & Poors (S&P) credit rating for each
counterparty. AAA is the highest possible rating. As at reporting date, the Company did not hold any
rated financial assets with an S&P credit rating below BBB (20'19: none). There is one term deposit held
with a counterparty that is not rated by S&P but which is assigned a rating by another international
ratings agency, and judgement has been applied to classify the asset under the headings used.

A/AA AA
A
BBB Not rated
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total
$'ooo

2020
Cash at bank
lnvestments
Reinsurance and other
recoveries receivable

2s,940

29,940

20,283

22,000

21,867

64,150

6,807

4,563

2,857

14,227

57,030

26,563

24,724

108,317

2019
Cash at bank
lnvestments
Reinsurance and other
recoveries receivable

17,990
33,805

6,329

836

58,124

836

20,765

17,990
54,570

3,216

10,381

23,981

82,941

Transactions with CBL Group entities

Prior to the 1 July 2019 purchase of 100% of the shares of Assetinsure Holdings Pty Limited, the
Company's parent entity, by Lombard Australia Holdings Pty Limited (LAH) the Company's ultimate
holding company was New Zealand company, CBL Corporation Limited (CBL). CBL was placed into
voluntary administration in February 2018 and then liquidation on 13 May 2019. The CBL Group
included CBL lnsurance Limited (CBLI) which was placed into liquidation on 12 November 2018.

All transactions with CBL Group entities during the year were under pre-existing contracts. No new
contracts were entered into.
Since CBL was placed into administration, other than for agency fees due to CBL lnsurance Limited
incurred subsequent to the appointment of the Liquidator and the payment of the tax balances due to
CBL Holdings Australia Pty Limited (CBLH) on exit from the tax consolidated group, the Company has
not settled any amounts owing to the CBL Group. lncome tax instalments were paid by the Company
to the Australian Taxation Office on CBLH's behalf in the prior to share sale to LAH. The amount that
instalments exceeded the Company's share of the tax liability due were repaid to the Company by CBLH
during the year.

52

Assetinsure Pty Limited
Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

33
(b)

Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Transactions with CBL Group entities (continued)

With effect from the date of interim liquidation the Company ceased ceding reinsurance to CBL
lnsurance Limited. Since that date no settlement of any amounts owed by the CBL Group has been
received. CBL lnsurance Limited's Liquidator has published progress reports on the liquidation. These
have not provided any specific guidance in relation to the potential amount or timing of any future
distribution to creditors. Based on an assessment of the information available an impairment provision
has been established in relation to reinsurance recoveries receivable at reporting date (refer table
below).
The reinsurance contracts between the Company and CBL lnsurance Limited contain set-off provisions
and the Company reserves its rights in relation to these matters.
The transactions and outstanding balances at reporting date are as follows:

2020
$000's

2019
$000's

CBL Insurance Limited (CBLI)
Balances at 31 December:
Receivables:
Trade and other receivables
Provision for impairment
Net trade and other receivables
Reinsurance recoveries receivable
Provision for impairment

3,509
(1,755)

1,410
(705)

1,754

705

4,51B

4,181

(2,440)

(2,018)

Net reinsurance recoveries receivable

2,078

2,163

Total receivables

3,832

2,968

Trade and other payables

2,496

963

Net receivables after impairment

1,336

1,905

Payables:

GBL Holdings Australia Pty Limited (CBLH)
Balances at 31 December:
Trade and other receivables

498
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(c)

Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is concerned with the risk of there being insufficient cash resources to meet payment
obligations without affecting the daily operations or the financial condition of the Company.

Management of liquidity risk includes asset and liability management strategies. The assets held to
back insurance liabilities consist mainly of fixed interest securities and other very high quality securities
which can generally be readily sold or exchanged for cash. The money market securities are restricted
to investment grade securities with concentrations of investments managed as per the investment
mandate. Details of the Company's financial assets are provided in Notes 12lo 15.
Maturity profiles
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the insurance liabilities of the Company based on
the estimated timing of net cash outflows and the investments held by the Company.
The maturity profile is a key tool used in the investment of assets backing insurance liabilities to ensure
that sufficient cash resources will be available to satisfy the estimated pattern of claims payments.

Uptoa
year
$'000

1-3
years
$'000

3-5
years
$'000

Morethan
5 years
$'000

Total
$'000

2020
lnvestments
Net discounted insurance
liabilities

56,300

9,228

7,000

10,074

5,631

850

64,150

5,644

30,577

2019
lnvestments
Net discounted insurance
liabilities

(d)

47,220

7,000

8,355

7,783

4,300

350
5,905

54,570

26,343

Net fair values

The Company's financial assets and liabilities are carried in the statement of financial position at
amounts that approximate fair value.
The carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities are reviewed to ensure they are not in excess
of the net fair value.
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Gommitments
Capital commitments
There were no capital commitments contracted for at the current or prior year reporting date.

Leases as Lessor
The company currently occupies premises leased by its parent entity the cost for which is included in
the service fees paid to that entity.

35

Unexpired risk liability
The liability adequacy test (LAT) has identified a surplus for each portfolio of contracts that are subject
to broadly similar risks and are managed together as a single portfolio, except for the Enthusiast Motor,
Pl Plus landlord insurance and Builders Warranty portfolios. For these portfolios the LAT deficit is less
than the risk margin allocated to the portfolio

The LAT test has been calculated to achieve a Probability of Sufficiency ("PoS") consistent with the
outstanding claims liabilities.

2020
$'000

2019
$'ooo

Discounted central estimate of expected cash flows on future
claims
Risk margin

27,690
7,510

21,420
5,070

Present value of expected future cash flows for future
claims

35,200

26.490

For the purposes of LAT

36

Events subsequent to reporting date
Subsequent to reporting date the Company declared, subject to regulatory approval, a $1,700,000
dividend. There are no other material events occurring after reporting date that the Company is aware
of as at the date of this report.
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rectors' declaration

ln the opinion of the Directors of Assetinsure Pty Limited ("the Company"):

(a)

the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 6 to 55 are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

(i)
(ii)

giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 3'l December 2020 and of its
performance for the financial year ended on that date;

complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including

the Australian

Accounting

lnterpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.

(c)

The Directors draw attention to Note 1(a) to the financial statements, which include a statement of
compliance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors

MM
Director

Dated at Sydney this 12th March2021
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Independent Auditor's Report to the
Members of Assetinsure Pty Limited
Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Assetinsure Pty Limited (the "Company") which
comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors'declaration.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company is in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2007, including:

(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Company's financial position as at 31 December
2020 and of its financial performance for the year then ended; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations
2001.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are

independent of the Company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional
& Ethical Standards Board's APES lLQ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2007,
which has been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given
to the directors as at the time of this auditor's report.

'

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Company's annual report for the year ended 31 December
2020, but does not include the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Liability limited by a scheme appioved under Professional Standards Legislation
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network.

Deloitte.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated, If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard,
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report
that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of
the Company to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but
to do so,

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a
whole, is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of this financial report,

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report,
whether due to fraud or error/ design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
a

a

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, If we conclude that a

Deloitte.
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report
disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

to the related

.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit,
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